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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Michael Smith asks this Court to review the decision of 

the Court of Appeals referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Michael Smith seeks review of the Court of Appeals' 

unpublished decision in State v. Michael Smith, filed March 3, 2021 ("Slip. 

Op."), which is appended to this petition. The Court of Appeals decision 

addresses three issues. Mr. Smith seeks review of two of those issues 

identified below. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. During the State's presentation of its case, Jurors were 

removed from the court to the jury room 14 times while the court discussed 

with counsel objections to testimony or the admission of proffered exhibits. 

Despite being instructed they were not to deliberate or discuss the case until 

the conclusion of the trial,jurors nonetheless discussed the removals and on 

a board in the jury room marked each time they were removed attributing 

the removal to either the State or defense depending on which party was 

examining the witness when they were ordered removed. Where jurors were 

unable to follow the court's instructions and deliberated prematurely should 

the court have granted petitioner's mistrial motion? 
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2. Following his arrest petitioner invoked his right to silence 

and counsel. When he later phoned the complaining witness from jail, a 

police officer who was with the complaining witness told her to accept the 

call and ask petitioner why he committed the crime. Was petitioner's right 

to counsel violated by admission of his statement to complaining witness in 

response to the questions the police officer told her to ask him? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Smith was convicted of second degree assault and second 

degree malicious mischief. CP 76, 79, 80. Tanya Hedin, Mr. Smith's ex­

girlfriend, was the named victim in both charges. CP 193. 

On appeal Mr. Smith argued: 1) that juror misconduct violated his 

right to a fair trial; 2) the admission of his statement to Hedin violated his 

right to counsel; and 3) his right to a unanimous verdict on the malicious 

mischief conviction was violated. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 11-39. The 

Court of Appeals ruled that Mr. Smith's right to a unanimous verdict was 

violated and it reversed the malicious mischief conviction. Slip. Op. at 4-

9. It rejected his other arguments and affirmed his assault conviction. Id. 

at 10-19. 

In its opinion, the court of appeals sets out a brief rendition of the 

substantive facts. Slip. Op. at 2-4. Mr. Smith refers this Court to his Brief 

of Appellant ("BOR") at 1-10 for a more complete rendition. 
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Below is a summary of the relevant facts related to each issue that 

Mr. Smith requests this Court to review. 

1. Facts Pertaining To Issue 1 

When a party objected during a witness's testimony or to a proffered 

exhibit, it was the trial judge's practice to remove the jury from the court 

room to the jury room while the parties and court addressed the objection. 

During the first two days of trial, while the State presented its case, the jury 

was removed from the court room to the jury room 14 times. 1 

On the second day of trial, the court clerk discovered that jurors were 

keeping a tally on a white board in the jury room corresponding to the 

number of times jurors were removed from the court room. RP 708, 714; 

CP 141-142. At the top of the board was written "recess tally" and the date 

"9/18." There were several marks under the "9/18" date. A line was drawn 

down the board and the date "9/19" was written on the right side of the line 

and under that date was written "Def." and below that State." Next to the 

word "State" there were four marks. CP 142. 

Juror 12 told the court clerk "That's our recess tally, including the reasons 

why." RP 714, 716. 

1 RP 355-361, 368-375, 412-414, 426-431, 468-477, 488-491, 521-524, 543-545, 547-550, 
568-579, 605-611, 676-682, 686-688, 692-698. "RP" refers to the sequentially paginated 
Verbatim Report of Proceedings. "RP" followed by the page number and date refers to all 
other Verbatim Report of Proceedings. 
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When the clerk informed the court about the tally board and Juror 

12's statement, jurors were individually questioned. Juror 12 stated it was 

his idea to start the tally and he put the marks on the white board. RP 718-

721. He explained that when the jury was removed to the jury room because 

a party objected, he and other jurors discussed whether the State or the 

defense was examining a witness at the time. RP 720. If they were removed 

during the State's examination of the witness a tally mark would be made 

next to "State" and if the defense was doing the examination a tally mark 

would be made next to "Def." meaning the defense. RP 721. 

Juror 12 also explained that initially a tally was "just the total 

number of recesses" but then he suggested to the other jurors they identify 

which party was examining the witness at the time to see if there was 

difference. RP 721-722, 726. He indicated there was a "general consensus" 

of frustration among jurors with the number of times they were being sent 

out. RP 721. 

The other jurors were questioned in turn. Jurors 11, 10 and 9, agreed 

the tally was started because of the number of times the jury was removed 

from the court room. RP 734, 741. Following a recess, the court informed 

counsel the court clerk noticed a new category, "Judge", had been added to 

the tally board and there was one mark under that category. CP 145-146; 
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RP 747-749. It was added at some point during the questioning of the jurors 

11, 10 and 9. RP 749. 

Questioning of the remaining jurors resumed. Juror 7 said all the 

jurors participated in the tally. RP 760-762. Like Juror 12, Jurors 8,7, 6, 3 

and 1 expressed a general frustration with the number of times the jury was 

removed from the court room. RP 754, 760-762, 767,787,801. Juror 5 said 

jurors speculated on why they were being removed from the court room and 

thought that the removal was because a party was being admonished or 

corrected. RP 773-775. Most jurors agreed that the marks corresponded to 

which party's attorney was examining the witness when the jury was 

removed from the court room. RP 721, 730, 737, 742, 762, 765, 782. 

Mr. Smith moved for a mistrial. RP 878-884. Defense counsel 

argued that jurors had violated the court's instructions not to deliberate until 

the case was concluded. RP 881,896. Counsel also argued that jurors were 

prejudiced against the defense because defense objections led to their 

removal. Counsel explained the jurors' reaction to removal had a chilling 

effect on the defense making what it believed were necessary and 

appropriate objections. RP 879-886, 896. 

The court itself expressed concern about the jurors "ability and 

willingness to follow instructions." RP 889. The basis for that concern was 

that jurors were previously instructed they were not to deliberate or discuss 
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the case until the conclusion of the trial. RP 887-88.2 And, that "even once 

we began questioning the jurors, they don't seem to be getting it that they 

can't be discussing this case in the jury room." RP 906. The court noted 

one juror was "pissed as hell" and while questioned was giving the court 

and the parties the "evil eye." RP 890. It also noted that at least one other 

juror appeared "put upon" that the court was even asking jurors about the 

tally. RP 890. 

Nonetheless, the court denied the mistrial motion. RP 900. Instead, 

the court re-instructed the jury that each party had the right to object to 

questions asked by the other lawyer and the objections should not influence 

them nor were they to make any assumptions or draw any conclusions based 

on a lawyer's objections. RP 922. The instruction told jurors that if a party 

failed to object it could result in a mistrial, and that requiring the jurors to 

leave the court room while the parties addressed an objection was required 

by law. RP 922-923. The court also re-instructed jurors that they were not 

to discuss the case among themselves until it concluded. RP 922-923. 

After the State rested, the court questioned jurors a second time. It 

asked each juror "Has the recesses or number of recesses prejudiced you 

2 The court had instructed the jury several times it was not to deliberate or discuss the case 
among themselves until after the trial, or make any assumptions or conclusions based on 
the lawyer's objections. RP 149, 244,246,249. 
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against either party or in any other way?" And "The Court is hereby 

instructing you to disregard the recess tally and the number recesses in this 

case. These should not influence you in any way. Are you able to follow 

this Court's instructions?" RP 966. Each juror answered "no" to the first 

question and "yes" to the second question. RP 967-976. 

Following the jury's verdict, Mr. Smith moved for a new trial under 

CrR 7.5. RP 1161-1165; CP 66-75. He argued he was denied his 

constitutional right to due process and a fair and impartial jury because of 

the juror's premature deliberation evidenced by the tally and answers to the 

court's questions, which constituted jury misconduct. CP 70-75; RP 1161-

1165. Mr. Smith pointed out that Juror 12, who initiated the tally, was 

ultimately elected foreperson, and it was Juror 12 added "Judge" to the tally 

board after being admonished. RP 1148, 1163. That it was likely jurors 

gave weight to Juror 12's premature deliberations. RP 1161-1162; CP 74. 

The court denied the motion. RP 1167. The court reasoned that the 

tally and whatever discussion jurors had did not warrant a new trial because 

it did not appear that jurors discussed Mr. Smith's guilt or innocence. Id. 

At a subsequent hearing on Smith's motion to stay the sentencing pending 
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appeal, the court itself questioned whether it should have granted the 

mistrial motion. RP 34 (11/26/2019).3 

2. Facts Pertaining to Issue 2 

The evening Mr. Smith was arrested he made several calls to Hedin 

from the jail, but she refused to answer any of his calls. RP 13-14, 16. While 

officer Thorpe was with Hedin investigating her complaint her property was 

damaged, she received another call from Mr. Smith. Thorpe told her to 

answer the call, put her phone on speaker, and to ask Mr. Smith why he did 

it. RP 14-15. She did what Thorpe asked and after Smith answered her 

questions, Thorpe told her to hang up. RP 16.4 At the time Mr. Smith made 

the call to Hedin he had invoked his right to remain silent and to counsel. 

RP 20-21; CP 168 (No. 1). 

Mr. Smith argued that Hedin was acting as an agent of police when 

she answered Smith's call and questioned him. RP 23. That by using Hedin 

as its agent, police violated Smith's right to silence and right to an attorney. 

CP 178-182. Smith moved to exclude the statements he made during the 

call. RP 23; CP 182. 

3 It appears the court reporter mistakenly labeled the verbatim report of proceedings for 
this hearing as occurring on December 26, 2019. 

4 Thorpe, on the other hand, disputed Hedin's testimony. RP 4-5, 8-9. However, he 
recorded the call on his own cell phone, but later deleted the recording on the advice of his 
sergeant who told him the recording violated the two party consent law. RP 6-7. 
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In its written ruling, the court found Hedin's testimony that Thorpe 

"directed" her to answer Mr. Smith's call and ask him "why he did the 

crimes" credible. CP 170 (No. 8). The court found and concluded Hedin 

was "acting as a state agent" for the "express purpose of asking a specific 

question about the defendant committing alleged crimes that the deputy 

directed her to ask." CP 170 (No. 9). Nonetheless, court denied the motion 

to suppress the statements. CP 174 (No. 12). The court's ruling was based 

on its finding and conclusion that Mr. Smith was not in custody for purposes 

ofMiranda5 and CrR 3.1. CP 171 (No. 11). 

Mr. Smith's statements were subsequently admitted at trial. RP 960. 

In answer to Hedin's question why he did it (committed the crime), Smith 

answered, "because I was pissed." Ex. 19A. 

E. ARGUMENT AND REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

1. The court instructed the jurors not to discuss the case among 

themselves or make any assumptions or draw any conclusion based on the 

attorney's objections. The discussions and speculations regarding their 

frequent removals from the court room each time an objection was lodged, 

showed jurors could not follow the court's instructions denying Mr. Smith 

5 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (] 966). 
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his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. This Court should grant review. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

Under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

Washington Const. art. 1, § 22, a defendant is guaranteed the right to a fair 

and impartial jury. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 526, 95 S. Ct. 692, 

42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975); State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 157, 892 P.2d 29 

(1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1121, 116 S. Ct. 931 (1996). The right to trial 

by jury means trial by an unbiased and unprejudiced jury, free of 

disqualifying juror misconduct. Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 113 

Wn.2d 154, 159, 776 P.2d 676 (1989); State v. Tigano, 63 Wn.App. 336, 

341, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991). 

To protect a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial as well as 

due process right to place the burden on the government to prove its case 

beyond a reasonable doubt, "a jury must refrain from premature 

deliberations in a criminal case." United States v. Gianakos, 415 F.3d 912, 

921 (8th Cir.2005) (citation omitted). Trial courts customarily admonish 

jurors not to discuss the merits of a case among themselves prior to 

submission of the case, and a jury's failure to abide by that instruction is 

"not a light matter." Id. 

The party alleging juror misconduct has the burden to show that 

misconduct occurred. State v. Hawkins, 72 Wn.2d 565, 434 P.2d 584 
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(1967). Once that burden is met, prejudice may be presumed, and that 

presumption can be overcome only by an adequate showing that the 

misconduct did not affect deliberations. State v. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d 842, 

856, 204 P.3d 217 (2009) (citing State v. Murphy, 44 Wn. App. 290, 721 

P.2d 30 (1986)). 

The Court Appeals recognized "at least a few jurors" violated the 

court's instructions admonishing them not discuss the case until 

deliberations and not to draw any conclusions based on the lawyer's 

objections. Slip. Op. at 13. It concluded, however, that the misconduct "did 

not affect the verdict" because it may have biased the jury against the State." 

Id. It supported that conclusion by reasoning that there were no tally marks 

on the board attributed to the defense, and that when questioned the jurors 

indicated the tally board would not impact their deliberations. Id. at 14. 

That reasoning is flawed. As the court noted, the jurors were clearly 

frustrated with being frequently and consistently removed from the court 

room when an objection was lodged. They made a mark on the tally board 

to indicate which lawyer was examining a witness when they were removed. 

That there were no marks under the defense category shows that not only 

was the State's attorney conducting the examination when they removed, 

importantly it shows that conversely it was the defense attorney's objections 

that necessitated the removal. It is nothing more than speculation that 
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because there were no marks under the defense category that jurors were 

biased against the State. It is equally if not more plausible jurors were 

prejudiced against the defense because the defense objections caused the 

court to order the jurors removed. It was the frequent and consistent 

removal that led to their frustrations and it was defense objections that 

ultimately resulted in removal. 

Moreover, it is not surprising that jurors told the court the tally 

would not affect their decision. In the context of bias of a potential juror, it 

has been recognized jurors "will fail to respond affirmatively to a leading 

question asking whether they can be fair and follow instructions." State v. 

Fire, 100 Wn.App. 722, 728, 998 P.2d 362 (2000), rev'd on other grounds, 

145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001). That observation is no less true in 

the context of a sitting juror. 

Juries are presumed to follow instructions absent evidence to the 

contrary. State v. Dye, 178 Wn.2d 541,556,309 P.3d 1192 (2013); State v. 

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The evidence shows 

Mr. Smith's jury could not follow instructions. It shows jurors discussed 

the reasons for their removal from the court room and speculated about the 

objections that led to their removal, despite the court instructing them not 

to do so. The court itself observed that "even once we began questioning 

the jurors, they don't seem to be getting it that they can't be discussing this 
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case in the jury room." RP 906. Given their demonstrated failure to follow 

these instructions it cannot be presumed the jurors followed any of the 

court's other instructions. The record bears out the court's concern about 

the jurors' "ability and willingness to follow instructions." RP 889. 

The jurors' inability to follow the court's instructions was 

misconduct. Once juror misconduct is established, prejudice is presumed. 

State v. Boling, 131 Wn. App. 329, 333, 127 P.3d 740 (2006). There is 

nothing in the record that rebuts the presumption of prejudice. Indeed, there 

is a substantial likelihood some or all jurors based their verdict on their 

frustration and anger with the trial process and that they viewed the defense 

as being responsible. It is reasonable to infer the jury impermissibly based 

their verdict on passion and not the application of the law to the facts. 

This Court should accept review and reverse Mr. Smith's assault 

conviction because the jury's misconduct denied him the right to a fair trial. 

2. The admission of Mr. Smith's statement to Hedin violated 

his right to counsel because it was made during an interrogation by a law 

enforcement agent after Mr. Smith invoked his right to counsel. This Court 

should accept review. RAP 13.4(b )(3) and ( 4). 

Under the United States Constitution and article 1, section 22 of the 

Washington State Constitution, a person accused of a crime is entitled to 

the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. Under 
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both the Washington State Constitution and United States Constitution, a 

person's right against self-incrimination is protected. U.S. Const. amend. V; 

Const. art. I, § 9. Once the right to counsel is invoked, police cannot initiate 

further interrogation until the person has an opportunity to meet with 

counsel and counsel must be present during any future interrogation. State 

v. Wamess, 77 Wn.App. 636, 639, 893 P.2d 665 (1995). 

The right to counsel comes into play when adversarial proceedings 

are initiated against a defendant. State v. Everybodytalksabout, 161 Wn.2d 

702, 707, 166 P.3d 693 (2007). Additionally, under CrR 3.l(b)(l), the right 

to counsel "accrue[ s] as soon as feasible after the defendant is taken into 

custody, appears before a committing magistrate, or is formally charged, 

whichever occurs earliest." This Court has held CrR 3.1 "goes beyond the 

constitutional requirements of the [F]ifth and [S]ixth [ A ]mendments of the 

United States Constitution." State v. Templeton, 148 Wn.2d 193, 218, 59 

P.3d 632 (2002). 

Once the right to counsel has attached, the State is prohibited from 

knowingly circumventing that requirement by deliberately eliciting 

information in contravention of that requirement. Everybodytalksabout, 161 

Wn.2d at 708 (citing Fellers v. United States, 540 U.S. 519,524, 124 S.Ct. 

1019, 157 L.Ed.2d 1016 (2004)). "[I]f the Sixth Amendment 'is to have 

any efficacy it must apply to indirect and surreptitious interrogations as well 
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as those conducted in thejailhouse.' "United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264, 

273,100 S.Ct. 2183, 2186-87, 65 L.Ed.2d 115 (1980) (quoting Massiah v. 

United States, 377 U.S. 201,206, 84 S.Ct. 1199, 12 L.Ed.2d 246 (1964)). 

When Mr. Smith was arrested, he was advised of his Miranda rights 

and asserted his right to remain silent and right to counsel. CP 168. The 

court correctly found that when Hedin took Mr. Smith's call from the jail 

Hedin was "acting as a state agent" for the "express purpose of asking a 

specific question about the defendant committing alleged crimes that the 

deputy directed her to ask." CP 170 (No. 9). The court admitted his 

statements to Hedin nonetheless reasoning Mr. Smith was not in custody for 

purposes of Miranda, thus he was not subjected to a custodial interrogation 

when speaking with Hedin. CP 174. 

On appeal Mr. Smith argued the admission of his statement to Hedin 

violated his constitutional and CrR 3 .1 (b )(1) right to counsel because he 

previously invoked his right to remain to silent and right to counsel before 

Hedin, acting as the State's agent, interrogated him at officer Thorpe's 

request with questions he supplied her. BOA at 23-31. The Court of 

Appeals rejected the arguments. 

The Court of Appeals held when he called Hedin, Mr. Smith had not 

yet been formally charged so his Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not 

yet attached. Slip. Op. at 17. However, he invoked his right to counsel at 
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his arrest. Whether under the Sixth Amendment and article 1, section 22 of 

the Washington Constitution, the right to counsel attaches when invoked is 

an issue this Court should address. 

Although the Court of Appeals recognized that Mr. Smith's right to 

counsel attached under CrR 3 .1 (b )( 1 ), it concluded that a violation of the 

rule does not require the exclusion of evidence. Slip. Op. at 17. That 

conclusion is wrong. This Court, has held that the remedy for a violation of 

the rule is "suppression of evidence tainted by the violation." State v. 

Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244,282, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). 

The Court of Appeals, relying primarily on State v. Denton, 58 Wn. 

App. 251, 792 P.3d 537 (1990), also held that Mr. Smith's Fifth Amendment 

and article 1, section 9 right to counsel was not violated, even though he did 

not waive his right to counsel before Hedin interrogated him, because he 

was not subject to a custodial interrogation requiring the advisement of 

Miranda warnings. Id. at 17-19. Its reliance on Denton is misplaced. That 

case is both legally and factually distinguishable. See Reply Brief of 

Appellant at 2-4. 

Denton was arrested for robbery, given his Miranda rights and he 

invoked his right to counsel. Denton, 58 Wn. App. at 253, 259. Denton 

subsequently called a detective from jail to ask for the detective's help to 

protect him from another inmate. During the conversation, the detective 

-16-



asked Denton if he committed the robbery and Denton admitted he 

participated. Id. at 253-254. The Denton court held that the detective 

engaged in an interrogation by asking Denton if he committed the crime, 

but because Denton initiated the telephone call and could terminate the 

conversation by hanging up the telephone, Denton was not in custody 

requiring the re-advisement of the Miranda warnings and he waived his 

Fifth Amendment right to counsel. Id. at 258-260. 

Unlike Denton, Mr. Smith did not initiate a conversation with police 

and then willing answer questions about the crime instead of terminating 

the interrogation. Instead, Thorpe surreptitiously interrogated Mr. Smith 

through his agent, Hedin. Under the facts here Mr. Smith did not waive his 

previously invoked right to counsel. See Wyrick v. Fields, 459 U.S. 42, 46, 

103 S.Ct. 394, 74 L.Ed.2d 214 (1982) (once the right to counsel is invoked 

there can be further interrogation in the absence of counsel unless it is 

shown the suspect initiates "dialogue with the authorities."). 

When Mr. Smith called Hedin from the jail, she had no intention of 

speaking with him. She only answered his call because she was directed to 

by Thorpe. Thorpe told Hedin to ask Mr. Smith why he committed the 

crime. The question was designed to deliberately elicit incriminating 

statements. Thorpe orchestrated the interrogation from beginning (telling 

Hedin to answer the call and what to ask Mr. Smith) to end (telling Hedin 
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to hang up after Mr. Smith answered the questions Thorpe told Hedin to 

ask). Hedin was merely Thorpe's conduit for the interrogation. That 

interrogation violated Mr. Smith's right to counsel and his statements, 

which amounted to a confession, should have been suppressed. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The issues in this case present a significant question of law under 

the Washington State and the United States Constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3) 

and (4). This Court should accept review and remand for a new trial on the 

assault charge. 

I DA TED this -$.-.--- day of June 2020. 

Respectfully submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 
.c:::;:;, r: 

.. ~· c~' 
~,?,<-- fl .. ,,(>· <-----

ERIC NIELSEN, WSBA No. 12773 
Office ID No. 91051 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

ANDRUS, A.C.J. - Michael Smith appeals his conviction for malicious 

mischief and the domestic violence assault of his former girlfriend, Tanya Hedin. 

He argues the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial for jury 

misconduct. He also contends his malicious mischief conviction should be vacated 

because the trial court did not provide a unanimity instruction and the State failed 

to adequately elect in its closing argument the specific acts it claimed comprised 

malicious mischief. Lastly, he maintains the trial court erred in denying his motion 

to suppress incriminating statements he made to Hedin during a recorded jail 

phone call. We reverse the malicious mischief conviction under State v. Petrich, 1 

but otherwise affirm. 

1 101 Wn.2d 566,572,683 P.2d 173 (1984). 

Citations and pin cites are based on the Westlaw online version of the cited material. 

, 
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FACTS 

At the time of trial, Michael Smith and Tanya Hedin had been in a 

relationship for seven years and have a son together. They lived in Lake Stevens, 

Washington with their son and two daughters, one each from previous 

relationships. In 2017, Jonathan Missroon, who lived down the road from Hedin 

and Smith, began calling and texting Hedin regularly, leading Smith to harbor 

suspicions that the two were having an affair. 

On the afternoon of October 27, 2017, Hedin told Smith she was going to a 

tanning appointment, but instead met with Missroon at nearby Lake Stevens 

Community Park so that Missroon could change a taillight on her Dodge pickup 

truck. Missroon arrived on a motorcycle after Hedin, parked next to her pickup, 

and changed her rear light within minutes. 

Smith learned of Hedin's whereabouts from her teenage daughter. He 

raced his white Chevy truck to the park and found Missroon and Hedin together. 

Hedin heard Smith arriving and described his driving as erratic and fast. Other eye 

witnesses described hearing Smith "peeling out" or "squealing tires," traveling so 

fast that the truck came off the parking lot speed bumps. 

Smith skidded to a stop behind Hedin's truck, leaving skid marks seven to 

eight feet long. He got out of his truck, began screaming profanities at Hedin and 

Missroon, and then threw a water bottle at Missroon's head. Smith returned to his 

vehicle, put the truck in gear, lined his truck up with the rear of Hedin's vehicle, 

and then slammed the truck into reverse and smashed into Hedin's pickup. 

According to both Hedin and Missroon, Smith stopped and looked at them before 
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speeding out of the park. Eye witnesses also described Smith as ramming into 

Hedin's parked truck. The impact caused Hedin, who was getting into the driver's 

seat of the pickup, to fall to the ground, leaving her scratched and bruised. 

Two witnesses who saw and heard the collision, called the police. Sergeant 

Josh Pettibone, with the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office, was dispatched to the 

park at 4:17 p.m. At the same time, Deputy Sheriff Karl Gilje went to the home 

Hedin and Smith shared. Gilje arrived at 4:30 p.m. and found Smith sitting outside 

the house distraught and drinking a soda. Gilje arrested Smith. 

When Hedin returned to the house that evening, she noticed that her home 

office, located in the couple's detached garage, had been ransacked and her 

embroidery machine and computer equipment destroyed. Kerry Baker, who 

repairs embroidery machines, testified that the required replacement parts for that 

machine would cost $2,500. In addition to the embroidery machine, Hedin found 

a shattered computer screen, a damaged laptop and a severed electrical cord to 

a copy machine. Hedin also found water-damaged computer hard drives outside 

in the yard. Hedin called police to report the damage at about 8:30 p.m. Deputy 

Sheriff Todd Thorpe responded and photographed the office area and damaged 

equipment. 

While Thorpe was at the house, Smith called Hedin from jail. Thorpe 

instructed her to answer the call and "[a]sk him why he did it." When Hedin asked 

"why ... you broke my Toshiba laptop," Smith responded "because I was pissed." 

Thorpe recorded this call on his cell phone, but deleted the recording after 
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speaking to his supervisor. The jail, however, recorded the call and the court 

admitted it at trial. 

The State charged Smith with domestic violence second degree assault 

with a deadly weapon, and domestic violence second degree malicious mischief. 

The jury convicted Smith as charged. The court sentenced Smith to a standard 

range sentence of 9 months on the assault and 5 months for malicious mischief. 

ANALYSIS 

A. Jury Unanimity 

Smith asks this court to vacate his malicious mischief conviction because 

his right to a unanimous verdict was violated. We agree. 

In Washington, a defendant may be convicted only when a unanimous jury 

concludes that the criminal act charged in the information has been committed. 

State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190, 607 P.2d 304 (1980). 

When the evidence indicates that several distinct criminal acts have 
been committed, but defendant is charged with only one count of 
criminal conduct, jury unanimity must be protected. . . . The State 
may, in its discretion, elect the act upon which it will rely for 
conviction. Alternatively, if the jury is instructed that all 12 jurors must 
agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond 
a reasonable doubt, a unanimous verdict on one criminal act will be 
assured. When the State chooses not to elect, this jury instruction 
must be given to ensure the jury's understanding of the unanimity 
requirement. 

Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 572. Where there is neither an election nor a unanimity 

instruction in a multiple acts case, a constitutional error occurs. State v. Coleman, 

159 Wn.2d 509,512, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). The error stems from the possibility 

that some jurors may have relied on one act as the basis for convicting the 

defendant and other jurors may have relied on a different act, resulting in a lack of 
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unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction. State v. Kitchen, 

110 Wn.2d 403,411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). 

The State charged Smith with malicious mischief in the second degree 

under RCW 9A.48.080(1 )(a). This statute makes it a crime to "knowingly and 

maliciously" cause "physical damage to the property of another in an amount 

exceeding seven hundred fifty dollars." Before trial, the State notified the court it 

intended to rely on the damage Smith allegedly caused to Hedin's truck and to her 

personal property at the house to support the malicious mischief charge. The State 

also informed the trial court it intended to propose a Pretrich instruction 2 to ensure 

jury unanimity on that charge. At some point during trial, however, the State 

decided not to offer a Pretrich instruction. The jury was thus not instructed that it 

had to unanimously agree on the same act of property damage to render a guilty 

verdict. 

In response to this appeal, the State contends the damage to Hedin's truck 

and to the personal property located in her house constituted a continuing course 

of conduct, eliminating the need for a unanimity instruction. This argument lacks 

merit. 

First, the State did not raise this argument below. When Smith moved to 

dismiss the malicious mischief conviction, arguing that the lack of a unanimity 

instruction rendered that conviction invalid, the State argued only that the evidence 

2 The Washington State Supreme Court Committee on Jury Instructions has developed a pattern 
jury instruction for the situation in which a defendant is alleged to have committed several distinct 
acts that could constitute a crime and the State charges that defendant with only one count of 
criminal conduct. See 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: 
CRIMINAL 4.25 at 117 ( 4th ed. 2016). 
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it presented and its closing argument made clear that it had elected to rely only on 

damage to the personal property at the house. The State did not argue that a 

Petrich instruction was unnecessary because Smith's conduct constituted a 

continuing course of conduct, and the trial court did not address this issue. As the 

State is well aware, a party generally may not raise an argument on appeal that 

they did not make to the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 

322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

Second, while Petrich does not apply if the evidence shows a continuing 

course of criminal conduct, State v. Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 

(1989), the record here does not support this argument. "A continuing course of 

conduct requires an ongoing enterprise with a single objective." State v. Love, 80 

Wn. App. 357, 361, 908 P.2d 395 (1996). We evaluate the evidence in a 

commonsense manner considering the time that elapsed between the criminal acts 

and whether the acts involved the same parties, same location, and the same 

ultimate purpose. lg,_ Where evidence involves conduct at different times and 

places, or different victims, then the evidence tends to show several distinct acts. 

lg,_ at 362. Conversely, evidence that a defendant engaged in a series of actions 

intended to secure the same objective indicates a continuing course of conduct. 

State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995). 

In this case, the State admitted below that Smith's actions at the park and 

at the residence were "separate and distinct conduct at a different location[s], at a 

different time[s]." The State now contends, however, that the acts were a 

continuing course of conduct because Hedin was the victim of both acts and they 

- 6 -



No. 80669-6-1/7 

occurred within roughly 30 minutes. 

But the evidence of a continuing course of conduct ends there. The damage 

to Hedin's truck occurred in a public park in close proximity to Hedin and Missroon. 

Smith was convicted of second degree assault for the same act, meaning the jury 

found he had intended to inflict bodily harm upon Hedin when he rammed her truck. 

Smith then drove to a separate location, the couple's home, and allegedly engaged 

in a second criminal act, the destruction of Hedin's personal property, which she 

did not discover until four hours later. These actions constitute separate and 

distinct acts, one with the objective to assault Hedin, and the other with the 

objective of destroying her property outside of her presence. 

The State alternatively argues, as it did below, that "no unanimity instruction 

was required because the prosecutor clearly elected the damage to the property 

at home as the basis for the malicious mischief charge." But the prosecutor made 

no such clear election. 

Courts consider several factors when determining whether the State elected 

a specific act, including the charging document, the evidence, the instructions, and 

its closing argument. State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 813, 194 P.3d 212 (2008). 

When the State chooses to rely on a statement made in closing, the prosecution 

must clearly identify the act upon which the charge is based. State v. Thompson, 

169 Wn. App. 436, 474-75, 290 P.3d 996 (2012). 

Here, neither the information nor the jury instruction on malicious mischief 

specified the act that served as the basis for the charge. The State simply alleged 

that the crime occurred "on or about October 27, 2017." In closing argument, the 
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prosecuting attorney discussed the damage to Hedin's property at the couple's 

home when she outlined the elements of the malicious mischief charge and the 

evidence supporting those elements. But the prosecutor did not explicitly state 

that the charge was based only on that property damage. Nor did the prosecutor 

inform the jury that it could not rely on damage to Hedin's truck in rendering its 

verdict. 

The State cites State v. Lee, 12 Wn. App. 2d 378, 394-95, 460 P.3d 701 

(2020), to support its argument that the statements made in closing constituted a 

sufficiently clear election. In that case, the State charged Lee with two counts of 

assault based on his repeated acts of strangling a single victim in her apartment. 

& at 385. The prosecutor in Lee explicitly stated that the two counts were for 

"separate and distinct acts ... one of the counts of assault in the second degree 

is for the strangulation events that occurred in the living area. And one of the 

strangulation counts is specifically for ... the strangulation that occurred in the 

bedroom." & This case is distinguishable because, unlike in Lee, the prosecution 

never told the jury that it had to consider only the act of property destruction at the 

home when evaluating the malicious mischief charge. 

The State also cites State v. Thompson, in which we held that no Petrich 

instruction was required where the charged criminal act could have applied to 

multiple victims and the prosecutor only discussed one victim in closing argument. 

169 Wn. App at 475. But in that case the jury instructions specified the elected 

criminal act by clearly identifying the intended victim. & at 474-75. The jury 

instructions in this case did not identify the property Smith allegedly maliciously 
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damaged. 

Without an instruction or a clear oral statement by the prosecutor in closing, 

there is nothing in the record to indicate that the jury unanimously found Smith 

guilty of malicious mischief based on the destruction of property at the house 

alone, and the danger that the verdict violated Smith's right to jury unanimity 

remains high. 

The State's evidence that Smith damaged Hedin's truck was significantly 

stronger than the evidence that he damaged her property at the house. The State 

presented eyewitness testimony of four witnesses in the park who observed Smith 

ram into Hedin's truck. The State presented several photographs of the damaged 

truck during trial. On the other hand, no one observed Smith destroy the property 

at the house, and the State relied primarily on Hedin's account of what she 

observed when she returned to the house as evidence of this act. It remains highly 

plausible that members of the jury, dissatisfied with this evidence, also relied on 

Smith's actions at the park in finding him guilty of malicious mischief. 

Because the trial court did not offer a Petrich instruction and the State did 

not clearly elect which criminal act on which it relied for the crime, Smith was 

denied his right to a unanimous jury. This error was not harmless3 and we 

therefore reverse his conviction for malicious mischief. 

3 The State did not argue that the error in not giving a unanimity instruction was harmless. We 
note, however, that failure to instruct on jury unanimity is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt only 
if no reasonable juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any of the incidents alleged. State v. 
Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 512, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). The State's evidence of the malicious 
mischief charge does not meet that standard here. 
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B. Jury Misconduct 

Smith next argues that the trial court denied his right to an impartial jury 

when it denied his motions for a mistrial and new trial following what he 

characterizes as premature jury deliberations. We disagree. Although the record 

supports the conclusion that at least a few jurors engaged in misconduct, the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motions after questioning all of the 

jurors individually and concluding that any misconduct did not prejudice Smith. 

We review a trial court's denial of a motion for mistrial or new trial based on 

alleged juror misconduct for abuse of discretion. State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 

117, 866 P.2d 631 (1994). 

During trial, the court removed the jury from the courtroom 14 times during 

the first two days of trial to address objections to witness testimony or proffered 

exhibits. On the second day of trial, the court informed the parties that a clerk had 

observed a "tally" system on the jury room whiteboard that corresponded with the 

number of times the jurors had been removed from the court room. The court had 

the jurors removed from the jury room and court staff took a picture of the 

whiteboard. The left side of the board contained the heading "Recess tally 9/18," 

under which there were several tally marks. On the right side of the board, under 

the heading "9/19," there were two categories, one labeled "Def." and one, "State." 

The "State" category contained four tally marks, and the "Def.," none. 

The court also informed the parties that when the clerk escorted the jurors 

out of the room, Juror 12 stated "[t]hat's our recess tally, including the reasons 

why." The court then questioned each juror individually regarding how the tally 

- 10 -



No. 80669-6-1/11 

came about and the reasons for it. Juror 12 stated that the tally system was his 

idea and that the marks for "State" or "Def." indicated which side was examining a 

witness at the time the jurors were excused. He also stated there was a "general 

consensus" of frustration among jurors with the number of times they were sent 

out of the courtroom. 

Jurors 11, 10, and 9, separately indicated that the tally system was just 

meant to pass the time and they were unclear as to the significance of any recess 

being attributed to the State or defense. Jurors 8, 7, 6, 3 and 1 expressed 

frustration with the number of times they were sent out of the courtroom. Juror 5 

said the jurors had several conversations speculating why they were being 

removed from the courtroom. At some point before the lunch recess, Juror 12 

added a "Judge" category to the board and added a tally mark under that column. 

Smith moved for a mistrial the next morning. Despite expressing concern 

about the jurors' "ability ... and ... willingness to follow instructions," the court 

denied the motion. The court instead instructed the jury not to "make any 

assumptions or draw any conclusions based on a lawyers' objections," and not to 

"discuss anything about what happens in this courtroom amongst yourselves until 

the case has concluded." The court then individually questioned each juror a 

second time, asking if the number of recesses the court had called had biased 

them in any way. The jurors all answered "no." 

Following the verdict, Smith moved for a new trial under CrR 7.5. The court 

denied this motion, reasoning that there was no evidence that the jury had 
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engaged in premature deliberations on the facts of the case or of Smith's guilt or 

innocence. Smith challenges this ruling. 

The Washington Constitution provides, "The right of trial by jury shall remain 

inviolate." Const. art. I, § 21. "The right of trial by jury means a trial by an unbiased 

and unprejudiced jury, free of disqualifying jury misconduct." State v. Tigano, 63 

Wn. App. 336, 341, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991 ). Appellate courts are generally reluctant 

to inquire into how a jury arrives at its verdict and therefore an affirmative showing 

of misconduct is necessary in order to overcome the policy favoring stable verdicts 

and "the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." Balisok, 

123 Wn.2d at 117-18. 

"The party alleging juror misconduct has the burden to show that 

misconduct occurred." State v. Earl, 142 Wn. App. 768, 774, 177 P.3d 132 (2008). 

A successful motion for a new trial requires a showing of prejudice. State v. Depaz, 

165 Wn.2d 842, 856, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). Only errors that may have affected the 

outcome of the trial are prejudicial. State v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 P.2d 

809 (1979). "While prejudice may be presumed upon a showing of misconduct, 

that presumption can be overcome by an adequate showing that the misconduct 

did not affect the deliberations." Depaz, 165 Wn.2d at 856. 

"When asking whether prejudice occurred .... [t]he question is whether the 

Uuror misconduct] could have affected the jury's determinations, not whether it 

actually did." Tigano, 63 Wn. App. 336 at 341. This requires a comparison of the 

misconduct with the particular facts and circumstances of the trial. kl at 342. "As 
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a neutral, trained person observing both the verbal and nonverbal features of the 

trial, the trial judge is in the best position to make this comparison." kt 

In this case, before the court learned about the tally board, the court 

instructed the jurors that they were not to discuss the case amongst themselves 

until deliberation. The court also instructed that they were not to draw any 

conclusions based on any lawyer's objections. The record shows that at least a 

few jurors violated these instructions when they discussed amongst themselves 

both the number of objections and the possible reasons for the court removing 

jurors from the courtroom to address these evidentiary objections. 

When asked why there was a separate column for defense and prosecution, 

Juror 12, the tally's author, stated that the purpose was "[t]o see if there was-if it 

appeared to us that we were getting sent into recess more often when the 

prosecution was examining versus when the Defense was examining." Jurors 7 

and 8 indicated that there was conversation concerning which party caused the 

jury to be excused, as indicated by the tally marks. Juror 5 stated that the jurors 

had several conversations speculating as to the reasons for each recess. 

Smith argues the jurors' misconduct must be presumed prejudicial and the 

State failed to demonstrate the misconduct did not affect the verdict. But the 

misconduct at issue here does not cut against either party in particular. Prejudice 

cannot be presumed where the prejudicial effect of the misconduct cuts both ways. 

Depaz, 165 Wn.2d at 857. If anything, the record suggests that the misconduct 

biased the jury against the State. Juror 12's statement indicated that some of the 

jurors might have believed the prosecution had caused the majority of the 
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recesses. Moreover, when the court clerk took the photo of the tally board before 

the jurors had been questioned, the board contained four tally marks attributed to 

the State, one to the judge, and none to the defense. This evidence suggest that 

the jury's misconduct did not result in prejudice against Smith. 

Even if we were to presume prejudice, the record adequately demonstrates 

that the misconduct did not affect jury deliberations. After becoming aware of the 

tally, the court immediately removed the jurors from the jury room and thoroughly 

questioned each of them individually, inquiring into the meaning of the tally marks, 

the circumstances behind its creation, and the impact, if any, on their ability to 

remain impartial. The jurors universally informed the court that the board was 

meaningless and would not impact their substantive deliberations. The trial court 

denied the motion for a mistrial, finding the misconduct was not serious enough to 

be potentially prejudicial. The court then admonished the jury and instructed that 

they "[d]o not make any assumptions or draw any conclusions based on a lawyer's 

objections," and "must not discuss anything about what happens in [the] courtroom 

amongst [themselves] until the case has concluded." Under these circumstances, 

the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial and 

subsequent motion for a new trial. 

C. Admission of Self-Incriminating Statements 

Smith finally argues that the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the 

recording of his October 27, 2019 jail phone call to Hedin, resulting in the 

deprivation of his right to counsel and against self-incrimination under the Fifth and 

Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution and CrR 3.1 (b)(1 ). We reject 
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this argument. 

The trial court here admitted several statements Smith made before his 

arrest. A few minutes after Smith left the park, he sent Hedin a profanity-laced text 

stating that "[b]acking into you was an accident. I was extremely pissed off and 

trying to turn around, but you can still go to hell." The court admitted this text 

message at trial. When Deputy Gilje arrived at Smith's home to investigate the 

park incident, Smith told him he had gone to the park to look for Hedin, saw her 

hugging Missroon, became angry, threw a water bottle at a container next to 

Missroon's motorcycle, and accidentally backed into Hedin's truck. The court also 

admitted these statements at trial. 

Finally, the jury heard about a phone call Smith made to Hedin from the jail 

on the evening of his arrest. Hedin testified she had received repeated calls from 

Smith, but at the instruction of Deputy Thorpe, answered one call and asked Smith 

"why he did it." According to Deputy Thorpe, the subject of the call was the 

property damage within the detached garage. Patricia Pendry, the records and 

data management supervisor from the jail, testified about a recorded call Smith 

made to Hedin at 9:22 pm on October 27. During the jail call, Hedin asked Smith 

"why ... you broke my Toshiba laptop," to which Smith responded "because I was 

pissed." Also during this call, Smith repeatedly denied damaging Hedin's 

embroidery machine and insisted he had not intentionally reversed into Hedin's 

truck. This recorded call was played for the jury. 

Before trial, Smith moved to suppress any testimony relating to this jail 

phone call. He argued that while Hedin's questions produced mostly denials, one 
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response-the statement about being "pissed"-could be interpreted as 

incriminating. He contended the State violated his right to counsel and to remain 

silent by using Hedin to interrogate him about his actions after he invoked his 

Miranda4 rights. 

The court conducted a CrR 3.5 hearing and found Smith had invoked his 

right to counsel and to remain silent when he was arrested. The court also found 

that when Hedin answered Smith's call from the jail, Hedin was "acting as a state 

agent" for the "express purpose of asking a specific question about the defendant 

committing alleged crimes that the deputy directed her to ask." The court 

concluded, however, that the statements in the phone call were admissible 

because Smith was not "in custody" for purposes of Miranda and CrR 3.1 under 

Illinois v. Perkins, 496 U.S. 292, 110 S. Ct. 2394, 110 L. Ed. 2d 243 (1990). It 

concluded the jail recording was admissible and denied the motion to suppress. 

When considering the denial of a motion to suppress evidence, we review 

the trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence and its conclusions of law 

de novo. State v. Russell, 180 Wn.2d 860, 866-67, 330 P.3d 151 (2014); State v. 

Fuentes, 183 Wn.2d 149,157,352 P.3d 152 (2015). Unchallenged findings of fact 

are verities on appeal. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 733, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). 

Smith argues the State violated his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights to 

counsel by enlisting Hedin to interrogate him without counsel present. 5 Under the 

4 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 
5 The State argues that Smith may not raise a Sixth Amendment claim for the first time on appeal. 
But we conclude Smith raised this issue below. Although he did not cite the Sixth Amendment, 
Smith asserted that Deputy Thorpe's actions in instructing Hedin to ask him why he did it violated 
his right to counsel. CP 178; RP 23. This is the same argument Smith raises on appeal. RAP 2.5 
does not prohibit this court from considering new authorities on appeal. Burien Town Square 
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Sixth Amendment, once a defendant's right to counsel attaches, an undisclosed 

government agent may not "deliberately elicit[]" incriminating statements from the 

defendant. Massiah v. U.S., 377 U.S. 201, 206, 84 S. Ct. 1199, 12 L. Ed. 2d 246 

(1964). This right, however, attaches only after the State files formal charges. 

Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 689-90, 92 S. Ct. 1877, 32 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1972). 

Smith called Hedin from the jail after he was arrested but before he was formally 

charged with any crime. Because no judicial proceedings had been initiated 

against Smith at the time he called Hedin, his Sixth Amendment right to counsel 

had not attached. State v. Templeton, 148 Wn.2d 193, 219, 59 P.3d 632 (2002). 

Smith contends that under CrR 3.1 (b)(1 ), even though not formally charged, 

his Sixth Amendment right to counsel attached when he was arrested. This court 

rule provides that the right to counsel "accrue[s] as soon as feasible after the 

defendant is taken into custody, appears before a committing magistrate, or is 

formally charged, whichever occurs earliest." Our Supreme Court has held that 

the rule's requirement "goes beyond the constitutional requirements to the [F]ifth 

and [S]ixth [A]mendments of the United States Constitution." Templeton, 148 

Wn.2d at 218. But no Washington court has held that a violation of CrR 3.1 (b)(1) 

constitutes a violation of the Sixth Amendment, requiring exclusion of evidence. 

We decline to so hold here. 

Smith next maintains the State violated his right to counsel under the Fifth 

Amendment because Hedin's questions constituted a custodial interrogation. 

Under Miranda, an accused has a Fifth Amendment right to counsel during a 

Condo. Ass'n v. Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC, 3 Wn. App. 2d 571,576 n. 16,416 P.3d 1286 
(2018). 
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custodial interrogation, even if no formal charges have been filed. State v. Earls, 

116 Wn.2d 364, 374, 805 P.2d 211 (1991). And when an accused invokes the 

right to an attorney and the right to remain silent, law enforcement may not subject 

the accused to further interrogation until counsel has been made available or the 

accused waives his rights. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85, 101 S. Ct. 

1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981). 

Our courts have recognized that not all attempts to question an accused 

about his crimes while in jail constitute a "custodial interrogation" for Fifth 

Amendment purposes. In Illinois v. Perkins, for example, the United States 

Supreme Court held that a police investigation tactic of placing an undercover 

officer in the accused's jail cell posing as a fellow inmate and asking the defendant 

questions about the crime did not constitute a custodial interrogation requiring the 

officer to give Miranda warnings to the suspect. 496 U.S. at 298. 

Here, Smith called Hedin from jail, after informing law enforcement he 

wanted to speak to counsel. Yet, he nevertheless responded to her questions 

about the crimes he was alleged to have committed. The most analogous case in 

Washington is State v. Denton, 58 Wn. App. 251, 792 P.2d 537 (1990). In that 

case, a defendant, accused of committing a bank robbery, used the jail phone to 

call a detective he knew from a prior case in which he was the victim of an assault. 

.!.Q.,_ at 253. During this call, Denton told the detective why he was in jail, leading 

the detective to ask Denton, jokingly, "did you do it?" Denton responded, "I was 

there." .!.Q.,_ Denton argued the phone call should be suppressed as a violation of 

his right not to be questioned by law enforcement after invoking his Miranda rights. 
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!fl at 257. This Court rejected Denton's argument because, although Denton was 

in custody when he phoned the detective, he was not subjected to a custodial 

interrogation and was not "in custody" for purposes of Miranda. !fl at 258. 

Denton is instructive here because the determinative factors in that case 

were the fact that Denton initiated the telephone contact, the conversation did not 

"carry with it the coercive and intimidating factors that are normally present in 

jailhouse interrogations," the detective was not physically present, and Denton was 

free to terminate the conversation at any time "simply by hanging up the phone." 

!fl This case is analogous. Smith reached out to Hedin, not the other way around. 

The conversation was neither coercive nor intimidating to Smith. Although a 

deputy was listening to Hedin's end of the call, Smith was not aware there was a 

law enforcement officer present. And Smith could have simply hung up rather than 

answer any questions Hedin posed. We conclude Smith was not "in custody" for 

Fifth Amendment purposes when he chose to call Hedin from jail. The trial court 

did not err in admitting the jail phone recording. 

We affirm Smith's conviction for assault in the second degree and reverse 

his conviction for malicious mischief. We remand to the trial court for further 

proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

WE CONCUR: 
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